








considerable progress in reading their own
language, printed in Roman characters.” #*

Father Choné visited Fort William in the
spring of 1849 and decided to move the mis-
sion chapel and school there. Nevertheless,
in July of that year Father Frémiot was still
trying to stimulate the Indians to work on
the interior of the chapel at Pigeon River.
All such efforts were ended by a fire the
following winter which burned the build-
ings to the ground and left nothing standing
but the crosses in the graveyard.®

By May, 1850, the new Church of the
Immaculate Conception at Fort William
was finished, and the Jesuits moved their
center of operations. They continued, how-
ever, to minister from Fort William to the
Chippewa in the Grand Portage-Pigeon
River area. Over a period from 1854 to 1877,
the Reverend Dominique du Ranquet made
trips by dog sled and canoe from Fort Wil-
liam to Grand Portage. In 1855 the small
bark chapel built there nine years earlier
for Father Skolla was replaced with an-
other birch-bark structure. This was dedi-
cated by Bishop Baraga and an assistant
priest, the Reverend Eugene Benoit, and at
the same time a school was opened. The next
summer Bishop Baraga again journeyed to
Grand Portage in the company of Father
Du Ranquet, and on this visit he confirmed
fifty-three Chippewa.?*

The La Pointe treaty of September 30,
1854, and another treaty signed five months
later provided the Chippewa with annuity
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payments of money and goods in return for
Minnesota lands. As a result, beginning in
September, 1855, the Indians at Grand Por-
tage received four hundred dollars annually
for a teacher, a school, and cattle.?”

The new government school was kept by
Timothy Hegney, who in 1856-57 taught
sixty-one Chippewa from three bands at
day and evening classes. Two-thirds of the
pupils were children. Hegney reported them
reasonably easy to manage but said they
preferred learning by rote to studying. No
doubt listening was less effort than reading
The children were handicapped by the rov-
ing habits of their parents. On September 17,
1857, Hegney reported that the Indians
were getting ready to leave for their fishing
stations and that he was trying to give them
as much instruction as possible in the limited
time left to him.3¢

Through Henry C. Gilbert, the Indian
agent, the Chippewa of Lake Superior were
supplied with farm implements, tools, and
household items. He encouraged them “to
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build houses and adopt the habits of civi-
lized men,” and to this end he gave “every
Indian living in a house a good cook-stove,
with the usual cooking utensils, a table, bu-
reau, chairs, bedstead, looking-glass, and
many smaller articles.” At Grand Portage
a village plat was laid out and each Indian
who would build himself a house was as-
signed a lot measuring six by twelve rods.*"

Although the Chippewa at Grand Portage
now had a fuller life, Father Du Ranquet
continued to make summer and winter visits
to the birch-bark chapel. At last, in 1865,
on a hill overlooking the old chapel he built
a new log structure and consecrated it as
Our Lady of the Holy Rosary Church.*® So
after nearly a century and a half of intermit-
tent ministering by missionaries of the Fran-
ciscan and Jesuit orders and by a bishop and
a priest from Slovenia, the oldest Roman
Catholic parish in Minnesota received a
permanent church edifice.

[N 1951 the Grand Portage was designated
a national historic site, and in 1960 Congress
established the Grand Portage National
Monument. It does not, however, take in the
church and the cemetery.

The siding that now covers the tamarack
logs was applied to the church between 1910
and 1920; there is no record of the specific
date. The interior, which measures twenty-
five by thirty-six feet, was renovated in 1954
through contributions from friends of
Father Lawrence Schmidt, who was then
serving both St. John’s Church in Grand Ma-
rais and Holy Rosary Church at Grand
Portage. In the remodeling an oak floor was
installed; an altar and twelve pews seating
about sixty were added; an elevated area
was created for the organ, with some space
for choir members; the ceiling and walls
were covered with fiber board; and knotty
pine wainscoting was put in. Electrical serv-
ice reached the area in 1956, and kerosene
lamps in the church have now been replaced.

A cast-iron bell tolls half an hour before
mass. In winter, services are conducted
twice a month and on holy days by a priest
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from Grand Marais. When the bell does not
sound, the people know that weather condi-
tions have prevented him from making the
journey. During June, July, and August a
resident priest supplied by St. John’s Abbey
at Collegeville performs mass every day.
The parish consists of about twenty-four
families, including some hundred individ-
uals, nearly all of Indian or mixed blood.
They have small opportunity to find gainful
occupation, and many depend on relief for
at least part of their subsistence. Employ-
ment is mainly seasonal and consists largely
of road work or jobs with the National Park
Service, the state forestry department, and
private lumber companies. Fishing, the tra-
ditional occupation of the Chippewa in the
area, has declined in recent years because
of the scarcity of lake trout and herring.
Holy Rosary Church as such has never
maintained a school, for although the ed-
ucation of its people was initiated by the
missionaries, the task was taken over and
furthered for many years by the United
States government and is now the responsi-
bility of the Cook County School District.
An elementary school at Grand Portage ac-
commodates about sixty children in grades
one through six; for junior and senior high
school the students are taken by bus to
Grand Marais. In its place on the hill, how-
ever, the church remains the spiritual center
of the community and a monument to the
missionaries who founded the parish.?
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THE ORIGINAL of the picture on page 303 is
owned by the Convent of St. Benedict at St. Joseph,
and the one on page 308 by the St. Louis County
Historical Society. The photograph on page 309 is
by Eugene D. Becker; the drawing on page 307 is
from Harpers Weekly, January 6, 1883; the sketch
on page 301 was adapted from the same source.
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